2003

Karen Golay, et al. v. Washington City Corporation and Wheeler Machinery Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Utah Supreme Court poured this case over to the Utah Court of Appeals on August 27, 2003. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to §78-2-2(4), Utah Code Ann.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES/STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Was mailed notice to the public, including Plaintiffs/Appellants (the “Citizens”), of the Washington City Planning Commission (the “Commission”) hearing on a conditional use permit for Intervenor, Wheeler Machinery Company, (“Wheeler”) required? (R. 182-184.) This issue is a matter of law for which this Court grants no deference to the determinations of the District Court. *Springville Citizens, et al. v. City of Springville, et al.*, 1999 UT 25, ¶31.

2. Are the Citizens barred from appealing the illegal actions of the Planning Commission by the doctrine of “exhaustion” because they didn’t appeal a decision that they didn’t know about? (R. 181-182.) This issue is a matter of law for which this Court grants no deference to the determinations of the District Court. *Springville Citizens, et al. v. City of Springville, et al.*, 1999 UT 25, ¶31.

3. Is the controversy in this case still justiciable, or is it moot? (See Wheeler’s Memorandum in Support of Suggestion of Mootness filed with the Supreme Court.) This issue is a matter of law which was only raised at the appellate level, so there is no determination by the District Court for the Court of Appeals to review, and it is therefore a question of law. *Springville Citizens, et al. v. City of Springville, et al.*, 1999 UT 25, ¶31.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

All of the determinative statutory provisions are quoted in the Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In or around April, 2001, Wheeler acquired certain property within Washington City (the “City”) in order to construct and operate a commercial facility from which to sell, rent and service construction and earth-moving machinery and equipment. (R. 52.) In or around August, 2001, Wheeler applied to the City for a permit to construct and operate the facility as a conditional use in the zoning district where the property was located. (R. 52.) On September 11, 2001 the Commission held a public meeting and approved the conditional use

permit (“CUP”) with certain further conditions. (R. 52-53.) On September 20, 2001, certain neighboring property owners requested a re-hearing of the Commission’s decision because not all neighbors received the notice and because the Commission did not make requisite evidentiary findings. (R. 53.)

The Commission held the second hearing on November 7, 2001, and denied Wheeler’s CUP. (R. 53, 70.) On November 13, 2001, Wheeler appealed that decision to the City Council (the “Council”). (R. 70.) The Council held a public meeting on January 9, 2002, and affirmed the Commission’s denial. (R. 53-54, 71.) On January 11, 2002, Wheeler filed suit in the Fifth District Court, Civil No. 020500091, asking the Court to overturn the denial of the CUP (the “First Action”). (R. 54.) On August 12, 2002 the Court in the First Action issued a “Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment” in Wheeler’s favor requiring the City to grant the CUP (the “First Ruling”). (R. 86-104.)

Pursuant to the First Ruling the Commission again considered Wheeler’s CUP on September 4, 2002 (the “Commission Hearing”). (R. 71, 126.) The record of the proceedings (the “Record”) contains a Notice that was posted the day prior to the September 4, 2002, hearing. (R. 71-72.) However the zoning ordinances of the City (the “Ordinances”) requires that “[n]otice . . . shall be mailed to all property owners . . . within a 300 foot radius of any property for which an action of the Planning Commission is being requested,” Chapter 8, § 8-3. (R. 126.)

Beyond any dispute, there was no notice of the Commission Hearing mailed to the residents within a 300 foot radius, including the Citizens, of Wheeler's property as required by the Ordinance. (R. 126, 136-137.) The Citizens had no knowledge of the Commission Hearing and thus didn't attend. (R. 126-127, 136-137.) Pursuant to the First Ruling, the Commission approved Wheeler's use with the imposition of certain conditions that were different than any previously recommended (the "Commission Decision"). (R. 165.)

Because the Citizens didn't know of the Commission Hearing or the Commission Decision the Citizens did not appeal the Commission Decision to the Council as they would have been entitled pursuant to the Ordinances. (R. 165.) The Council would have heard comments from the Citizens at the appeal of the Commission Decision and the Council could have imposed materially different conditions on Wheeler's proposed use than those adopted by the Commission Decision. (R. 166-167.)

On September 20, 2002 certain individuals (including many of the Citizens in this action) filed a Motion to Intervene and a Motion to Reconsider Summary Judgment in the First Action. (R. 165.) On November 5, 2002 the Motion to Intervene in the First Action was denied on the grounds that it was untimely, having been filed more than 30 days after the judgment was entered in the First Action, and finding no grounds to set aside that judgment under Rule 60(b), *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*. (R. 118-122.)

Suspecting that their efforts to resuscitate the First Action might be unsuccessful, on October 3, 2002, within thirty days of the Commission Decision, the Citizens filed this action. (R. 2-3, and 165.) Wheeler was granted leave to intervene. (R. 40.) The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment based on the record before the City. (R. 48-49.) The District Court heard argument, reviewed the record, and ruled from the bench granting the motions of Wheeler and the City and denying the motion of the Citizens. (R. 177.) That decision was memorialized in a Ruling and an Order both dated May 13, 2003 and both filed on May 19, 2003. (R. 175-185.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jurisprudence of the Supreme Court and this Court on the issue of a municipality's failure to follow its own rules and the consequences, or lack thereof, for such failure is less than clear to practitioners in this important area of local government law. In *Springville Citizens, et al. v. City of Springville, et al.*, 1999 UT 25, ¶ 30, the Supreme Court declared that a city is "not entitled to disregard its mandatory ordinances." In *Bradley, et al. v. Payson City Corporation*, 2003 UT 16, ¶23, the Court appeared to say that the rule in *Springville* is only true for legislative land use decisions, and the rule would not be applied in other "types of municipal land use decisions." Following the conflicting messages in these two cases, citizens and others involved in land use matters before local government bodies are unclear whether the local governments

have to follow their own rules and, if they do not, whether there are any available remedies.

The City and Wheeler argue that the notice Ordinances can be ignored on a “no harm no foul” basis. However, the notice ordinance must be followed in order for citizens in the City to have the right to appeal decisions of the Commission to the Council. In this case, it is apparent that if the Citizens had been afforded notice of the Commission’s pending determination they would have appealed to the Council seeking different conditions of approval for Wheeler’s CUP.

After this appeal was filed Wheeler asserted that the outcome of this appeal was moot. Wheeler’s Suggestion of Mootness makes the creative, albeit unprecedented, argument that because it has completed its facility the land it sits on is no longer vacant so the Court should ignore the fact that the land wasn’t vacant at the time the Commission wrongfully approved Wheeler’s project. A decision in this case will make a difference in the real world, and affect the rights of the litigants, so this controversy is not moot. If this Court reverses the District Court and remands this matter back to the City the Citizens can argue to the Council for the imposition of materially different conditions on Wheeler’s CUP.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE CITY FAILED TO FOLLOW ITS OWN RULES REGARDING NOTICE AND SHOULD BE REQUIRED TO DO SO

It is undisputed that no notice of the Commission Hearing was mailed to the neighboring property owners, including the Citizens, as required by the Ordinances. That failure is grounds for remand pursuant to *Springville Citizens, et al. v. City of Springville, et al.*, 1999 UT 25, ¶31. The City and Wheeler claim that the Citizens were not prejudiced by this lack of notice because the “administrative record” before the Commission was supposedly “closed” prior to the Commission Hearing. However, nothing in the Ordinances nor the First Ruling compels that conclusion.

The plain language of the Ordinance conclusively establishes the Citizen’s claim. “*Notice of Planning Commission meetings¹ shall be mailed to all property owners . . . within a 300 foot radius of any property for which an action of the Planning Commission is being requested.*” Washington City Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 8, §8-3 (emphasis added).² There is nothing in the Ordinance that distinguishes if the Commission will be hearing from the public, or not as to whether the public is entitled to notice. The Ordinance merely requires that if the

¹ Note that the Ordinances do not require notice for only public “hearings” but, instead, for the much more broad term of “meetings”.

² §3-6 of the Washington City Ordinances (regarding meetings of the Commission) also has the exact same language regarding and requiring notice.

Commission will be taking action on a matter that effects property owners within 300 feet of the subject of the Commission decision, property owners must be mailed a notice of the meeting. There is no question that during the September 4, 2002, meeting the Commission was going to take action on the Wheeler CUP. The Commission had been ordered to take action granting the CUP. Therefore, and ineluctably, those property owners within 300 feet of Wheeler's property were entitled to have been mailed notice of the Commission's hearing.

Moreover, even if the record concerning the CUP application had been closed, the Citizens could have asked the Commission at the Commission Hearing to reopen the record to hear testimony regarding what conditions to impose on the CUP. As the First Ruling makes clear, the vast bulk, if not the totality, of the record in the First Action was related to whether the CUP should be allowed at all and not to what conditions should be imposed if the use were allowed. Further, even if the record had been closed before the Commission Hearing, the Citizens would have had the requisite notice and the ability to appeal the Commission decision to the Council. The Citizens could have argued from the Commission record on an appeal to the Council for different conditions on Wheeler's use.³

³ The Citizens could also have contacted the Commission and Council members before the meeting to voice their concerns. After all, at this point Wheeler's CUP had been denied, so the Citizens had not had an opportunity to voice their comments to the legislative body regarding what restrictions should be placed on Wheeler if the CUP was granted. See, e.g. *Bradley, et al. v. Payson City Corporation* at ¶ 28, citing *Harmon City v. Draper City*, 2000 UT App 31 at ¶ 26.

POINT II

THE CITIZENS DID NOT FAIL TO EXHAUST THEIR ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES

As noted in Point I, above, if the Citizen's had known of the Commission Hearing and the Commission Decision they could have appealed to the Council within the ten days specified in the Ordinances. This short time clock is likely one reason why the City has a mandatory notice ordinance to be used in their CUP approval process.

It is more than ironic that the City ignored its own rules about mailed notice but now claims that the Citizen's didn't exhaust their administrative remedies by failing to appeal a decision they didn't know of. The applicability of the ten-day appeal rule outlined in §8-6 of the City Ordinances, and the appeal process detailed in the state code at §10-9-407(2), U.C.A., providing administrative remedies that should be exhausted before filing suit are logically contingent upon having had notice of the action from which an appeal would be taken.

POINT III

THE CITIZENS' CLAIMS ARE NOT MOOT

Wheeler's argument for the mootness of this case is creative but strange. It follows in sum: since we have completed construction of our building, and now the land our facility sits on is no longer vacant, our use is now a permitted use

instead of a conditional one. There is absolutely no state statutory law to support this argument. Nor do the City's own Ordinances support this conclusion.

Furthermore, Wheeler cites no case law to support its claim that during this appeal the use of the property has somehow morphed from a conditional use to a permitted use, and clearly, this is not the case. Wheeler was granted a CUP, with a number of conditions, on September 4, 2002. Wheeler developed its vacant piece of land, and just because the building is complete, Wheeler is not suddenly entitled to claim that it has a permitted use. The CUP granted by the City and the conditions attached thereto are still in full force and effect, and the Citizens merely want to be afforded the opportunity to seek additional restrictions on that CUP.

Wheeler cites one case in its Memorandum, *Burkett v. Schwendiman*, 773 P.2d 42, 44 (Utah 1989). However, unlike in *Burkett*, the judicial relief requested in this case can affect the rights of the Citizens. In *Burkett*, the municipality in question amended its Ordinances making the case unnecessary. Here the City has not changed the conditional use ordinance since the beginning of this litigation. The same Ordinance is still on the books.

If this Court reverses the District Court and remands this matter back to the City the Citizens can argue there for different conditions on Wheeler's CUP, such as restrictions on the hours of operation, noise limitations, etc. The Citizens have the right to voice their opinions to the Council, City Ordinance, §8-6, and the Council might impose some conditions that are necessary to protect the Citizens.

Even if this Court finds that the Citizens case is moot, this Court should still render a decision for other parties that might be affected by the City's Ordinances. Interested persons will be regularly affected by the City's interpretation of the plain language of §8-3 of its Ordinances.

The Ordinance states, “[n]otice of Planning Commission meetings shall be mailed to all property owners . . . within a 300 foot radius of any property for which an action of the Planning Commission is being requested.” Washington City Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 8, §8-3 (emphasis added). In the case at bar, that notice did not take place, and City denied the Citizens the “basic procedural right” of notice and due process. *Carroll et al. v. President and Commissioners of Princess Anne et al.*, 393 U.S. 175, 184 (1968).

The Court should decide this matter, even if it determines the case at bar is moot, based on the public importance exception. The Supreme Court of Utah defines the public importance exception to the mootness doctrine as follows:

The public interest exception to the mootness doctrine arises ‘when the case presents an issue that affects the public interest, is likely to recur, and because of the brief time that any one litigant is affected, is capable of evading review.’⁴ Because mootness is a matter of judicial policy, the ultimate determination of whether to address an issue that is technically moot rests in the decision of the court. Mootness is not solely a judicial

⁴ In this case, if the Court agrees with Wheeler that since construction is complete their use is now permitted instead of conditional, then other parties could face a similar problem. Any future party that applied for a CUP could circumvent the notice requirements, have a CUP granted, quickly complete construction in order to escape review and claim “too bad, now we are a permitted use and you have no recourse” in the Courts.

doctrine, but is founded in part on policy considerations . . . the question of mootness is one of convenience and judicial discretion.

Ellis v. Swensen, 2000 UT 101, ¶26 (citations omitted). Similarly, this Court has said that “[w]hether an appellate court ‘reaches the merits of a mooted issue in any particular case rest within [the court’s] discretion.’” *State of Utah v. Fife*, 911 P.2d 989, 991 (Utah App. 1996) (citation omitted).

One reason the City Ordinance requires mandatory notice to appropriate property owners is so that when the Commission is going to make a decision property owners have notice of that decision so they can appeal to the Council if they disagree. When decisions take place over multiple meetings, property owners need to have notice of each meeting so when a final decision is rendered they are not thwarted from their right to appeal, which is on a very short clock (ten working days) in the City. Since many municipalities in Utah likely have a similar notice requirement, the Court should decide the “question of law presented which might serve to guide the municipal body when again called to act in the matter.”

Southern Pacific Terminal Co. v. Interstate Commerce Commission et al., 219 U.S. 498, 516 (1911).


CONCLUSION

The City’s failure to give the Citizens notice of the Commission Hearing violated the City’s own Ordinance. This violation, in turn, prevented the Citizens from appealing the Commission Decision to the Council which could have

imposed materially different conditions on Wheeler's CUP. The issues in this case have not been mooted by Wheeler's completion of its building. The City Council can still impose conditions on the CUP beyond those now in effect. The Citizens' are entitled to have the decision of the Commission overturned.