2003

Karen Golay, et. al. v. Washington City, Wheeler Machinery Co. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1.

The Utah Supreme Court has a long-standing policy against rendering advisory opinions. Thus, where circumstances arise between the time the litigation begins and appellate review that render the issues moot, the reviewing court should decline to decide the issue and dismiss the appeal.

In this case, Petitioners challenge the City's issuance of a conditional use permit to Wheeler Machinery. However, in the course of challenging such issuance, Petitioners

³ Because this information arose after the trial court litigation, it does not appear of record. However, it was provided to this Court on Wheeler's Suggestion of Mootness and has not been disputed by Petitioners, either in opposition to the Suggestion of Mootness or in their brief.

did not take any action to enjoin Wheeler from, on the basis of the permit, moving forward to construct its building. Thus, between the time Petitioners initiated the litigation and this appeal, Wheeler has completed construction and is now operating its business.

The relief Petitioners seek with this appeal is the opportunity to impose additional restrictions and conditions on Wheeler's conditional use permit. However, completion of the building effectively deprives Petitioners' requested relief of any practical significance as such relief would necessarily require Wheeler to alter permanent structures of cement and steel. Therefore, this appeal has been rendered moot as there is no relief that can be granted that will affect the rights of the litigants.

2.

Second, if this Court determines to address the substantive issues, the trial court must be affirmed. With regard to the Petitioners' due process claims, the trial court correctly reasoned that although the City did not provide mailed notice in accordance with its ordinances, the same has not deprived Petitioners of their right to due process because Petitioners cannot show that such notice would have resulted in a different outcome.

Indeed, Petitioners would not have had the opportunity to present their objections at the subject meeting because it was not a public hearing. Furthermore, Petitioners cannot escape the record in this case which makes clear that, far from being deprived of a meaningful opportunity to be heard, Petitioners had a complete and full opportunity at

two previous hearings on the issue to present their objections to the conditional use permit, which objections were actually addressed in the final permit issued to Wheeler.

3.

Finally, exhaustion of administrative remedies prior to judicial review is mandated by Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-1001(1). Petitioners failed to do so in this case. Therefore, the trial court correctly ruled that it was without jurisdiction to consider Petitioners' petition for review.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS APPEAL HAS BEEN RENDERED MOOT AS THERE IS NO RELIEF THAT CAN BE GRANTED THAT WILL AFFECT THE RIGHTS OF THE LITIGANTS.

“Ordinarily [this Court] will not adjudicate issues when the underlying case is moot.” Ellis v. Swensen, 2000 UT 101, ¶25, 16 P.3d 1233 (citing Burkett v. Schwendiman, 773 P.2d 42, 44 (Utah 1989)). “A case is deemed moot when the requested judicial relief cannot affect the rights of the litigants.” Id. (quoting Burkett, 773 P.2d at 44). Occasionally appellate courts will “consider a technically moot issue if it falls within the ‘public interest exception’ to the mootness doctrine.” Id.

“The public interest exception to the mootness doctrine arises ‘when the case presents an issue that affects the public interest, is likely to recur, and because of the brief time that any one litigant is effected, is capable of evading, review.’” Id. at ¶26 (quoting Burkett, 773 P.2d at 44).

Thus, in determining this issue, the first question is whether this appeal has been rendered moot, and if so, whether it falls within the public interest exception. Addressing these questions in turn, it is clear the issues on appeal are moot and do not fall within the public interest exception.

A. Petitioners' Failure to Seek Injunctive Relief to Prevent Wheeler's Completion of Construction Has Rendered this Appeal Moot.

Wheeler brought its Rule 37(a) Suggestion of Mootness asserting that because it fully constructed its building between the time the Planning Commission issued its conditional use permit and the instant appeal, it has gone from having a conditional use under Washington City Zoning Ordinance 24-1(2)(a) (requiring conditional use approval for development of any vacant parcel of land) to a permitted use under Washington City Zoning Ordinance 24-2(1)(b) (allowing use of existing structure as an automobile or vehicle sales and repair shop). Thus, Wheeler asserts that no further conditions can be placed on its conditional use permit as sought by Petitioners.

The City agrees with Wheeler that completion of its building has mooted this appeal. However, the City asserts this appeal is moot for different reasons.⁴ The relief requested by Petitioners is the opportunity to appear before the Planning Commission and/or the City Council to argue for "additional restrictions" and conditions on Wheeler's conditional use permit. (Br. at 10.) Petitioners have not readily identified what types of

⁴ The City does not agree with and cannot ascribe to the assertion that a conditional use automatically converts to a permitted use upon completion of construction of a building on vacant land. Such a proposition would fundamentally alter municipal authority to regulate zoning issues and the City is otherwise unaware of any authority supporting such a proposition.

restrictions or conditions they would like to advocate but generally assert that they would be in the nature of “restrictions on the hours of operation, noise limitations, etc.” (Br. at 10.)

As evidenced in the record, however, the “additional” restrictions Petitioners seek can be implemented only by actual redesign, alteration, and construction to the premises. (R. 207, 224-226, 243-245, 250, 280-293.) For example, to address noise concerns, the Planning Commission required Wheeler to construct its building with concrete walls, construct a block wall around the premises adjacent to residential homes, and design and plant landscaping to drown out noise. (R. 243-45, 281-293.) Further, entrances and exits were designed and engineered to handle the size of Wheeler’s trucks and machinery and road surfaces were designed to protect the public streets. (R. 224-226, 243-246, 281-293.) Each of these items—undisputedly now in place—required engineering and architectural designs, as well as feasibility studies, all at the cost and expense of Wheeler.

Should Petitioners ultimately prevail on appeal, this Court certainly will not require Wheeler to obtain new engineering plans and otherwise tear down or alter brick, steel, and vegetation to allow Petitioners to appeal the conditions imposed by the Planning Commission in the hopes that the City Council will be receptive to their claims. Particularly in circumstances such as these where Petitioners failed to act to protect their interests by obtaining or seeking some type of injunctive relief to prevent construction pending the outcome of the litigation.

Whatever may be said about Petitioners' notice of the Planning Commission meeting, Petitioners filed the instant action thirty days after the Planning Commission approved Wheeler's conditional use permit application. Petitioners actually began litigation a little over two weeks after the conditional use permit was approved, by filing a motion to intervene before Judge Beacham. Thus, Petitioners had adequate time and opportunity to seek injunctive relief against the construction of Wheeler's building pending an outcome of their challenge to the conditional use permit.

Moreover, contrary to Petitioners' assertions, ample authority exists to support the proposition that a party challenging a zoning action who does not seek injunctive relief to stop construction of a building during the pendency of the litigation risks the possibility of having their claim mooted upon completion of the construction. See City of New Orleans v. Bd. of Comm'rs, 694 So. 2d 975, 977 (La. Ct. App. 1996) (affirming dismissal of case as moot where completion of project prevented court from giving any practical relief); Dreikausen v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals, 774 N.E.2d 193, 198 (N.Y. 2002) (dismissing appeal as moot where challenger's failure to seek preliminary injunctive relief to preserve status quo and prevent construction from commencing or continuing during pendency of litigation prevented court from fashioning any practical relief); see also, e.g., Zoning Bd. of Adjustment v. DeVilbiss, 729 P.2d 353, 358-59 (Colo. 1986) (declaring challenge to zoning decision moot where challenged construction project was completed during pendency of action and plaintiff failed to obtain injunctive relief to enjoin such construction); Wells v. Lodge Props., Inc., 976 P.2d 321, 325 (Colo. Ct. App.

1998) (finding case not moot where plaintiff sought injunctive relief, building was not completed, and action filed before issuance of permit).

As stated by the Colorado Supreme Court, a party who fails to seek injunctive relief “must bear some responsibility for a change in circumstances between the commencement of the action and the ultimate resolution of the case on the merits.”

DeVilbiss, 729 P.2d at 357. Along the same lines, both the Utah Supreme Court and this Court have refused to relieve parties from their choice of litigation strategy when such strategy ultimately works to their detriment—however harsh the result may be. See Collins v. Sandy City Bd. of Adjustment, 2002 UT 77, ¶19, 52 P.3d 1267 (refusing to grant exception to res judicata where party failed to exhaust appeals), *aff’g*, Collins v. Sandy City Bd. of Adjustment, 2000 UT App 371, ¶26, 16 P.3d 1251 (same).

This general policy should certainly be applied here where the remedy sought may require “complete removal or radical alteration of the construction project undertaken and completed at considerable expense and pursuant to governmental permit processes.” DeVilbiss, 729 P.2d at 359.

Furthermore, with regard to those conditions Petitioners seek that do not require alteration of or tearing down permanent structures (such as quiet time), Petitioners have failed, both before the trial court and on appeal, to present any evidence or give any indication as to what *specific* conditions they seek, and how those conditions differ from the conditions presently in force. Indeed, throughout this litigation Petitioners have simply ignored the conditional use permit that was issued and is currently in place. This

Court need not seriously entertain Petitioners' cryptic requests for conditions where they fail to consider the present conditions or otherwise articulate the specifics of the conditions they seek.

In sum, because this Court can grant no relief that will affect the rights of the litigants, this case is moot and any decision from this Court would constitute a mere advisory opinion, the issuance of which would undermine longstanding judicial policy. See Keller v. Southwood N. Med. Pavilion, Inc., 959 P.2d 102, 108-09 (Utah 1998) (Russon, J., concurring in result) (citing Utah Supreme Court decisions on longstanding policy against rendering advisory opinions); Stewart v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 885 P.2d 759, 784-85 (Utah 1994) (Howe, J., dissenting) (stating "it is not the province of this court" to answer "abstract, hypothetical, or otherwise moot cases"); State v. Sims, 881 P.2d 840, 842 (Utah 1994) (stating "[w]hen declaring an issue moot, a court specifically declines to address the merits"); Merhish v. H.A. Folsom & Assocs., 646 P.2d 731, 732 (Utah 1982) ("strong judicial policy against giving advisory opinions dictates that courts refrain from adjudicating moot questions"); McRae v. Jackson, 526 P.2d 1190, 1191 (Utah 1974) ("The function of appellate courts . . . is not to give opinions on merely abstract or theoretical matters, but only to decide actual controversies injuriously affecting the rights of some party to the litigation, and it has been held that questions or cases which have become moot or academic are not a proper subject to review.").

B. This Case does not fall within the Public Interest Exception because it is Not Likely to Recur Yet Evade Review.

Petitioners argue that even if this appeal has been rendered moot, it falls within the public interest exception and therefore should be considered by this Court. First and foremost, as set forth above, it should be noted that exceptions to the mootness should not be employed merely to reach an interesting question. Rather, such exceptions should be used “occasionally” and even then only in “extraordinary circumstances”. Merhish, 646 P.2d at 732. Petitioners have provided no valid reason for this Court to depart from this standard.

As an initial matter, while Petitioners generally recite the public interest exception, they fail to give it any meaningful application to this case other than inviting this Court to issue an advisory opinion to other municipalities in Utah. (Br. at 12.) Specifically, Petitioners have made no argument that the situation presented here is likely to recur yet evade review. See Ellis, 2000 UT 101 at ¶26.

As set forth in the statement of facts, this case arrives at this Court having been through two public hearings, an administrative appeal, as well as prior litigation resulting in a well-reasoned opinion by a respected district court judge who mandated issuance of the permit at issue. The procedural posture of this case, therefore, is not likely to recur very often—if at all—and Petitioners have failed to argue otherwise.

Further, the issue here is not likely to evade review “because of the brief time that any one litigant is affected.” Id. Rather, any litigant may seek exactly what Petitioners failed to seek in the instant case: injunctive relief to prevent the case from becoming

moot prior to completion of the litigation. Therefore, it does not fall within the public interest exception to the mootness doctrine.

In sum, this Court should dismiss this appeal as moot.

II. THE CITY'S FAILURE TO MAIL NOTICE OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING DID NOT DENY PLAINTIFFS DUE PROCESS BECAUSE PETITIONERS WERE NOT PREJUDICED BY SUCH FAILURE.

In addition to the notice requirements of the Open and Public Meetings Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 52-4-1 to -10 (2002),⁵ Washington City Zoning Ordinance § 3-6 provides that notice of Planning Commission meetings be “mailed to all property owners appearing on the latest ownership plat in the Washington County Records Office within a three hundred (300) foot radius of any property for which an action of the Planning Commission [on a conditional use permit] is being requested.” Wash. City Zoning Ord. § 3-6.

It is undisputed that the City did not provide this mailed notice. Petitioners assert that this failure invalidates the issuance of the conditional use permit and otherwise denied them of their right to due process. This assertion is erroneous. As the trial court correctly concluded, the City's failure to provide mailed notice did not violate Petitioners' right to due process or invalidate the action taken by the Planning

⁵ The City's compliance with the Open and Public Meetings Act is undisputed and was not challenged below or on appeal.

Commission because providing such notice would not have resulted in a different outcome.

The trial court's conclusion relied upon and is consistent with the Utah Supreme Court's decision in Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. City of Springville, 1999 UT 25, 979 P.2d 332. In Springville Citizens, the plaintiffs challenged the city council's approval of a planned unit development on the grounds that the city had failed to follow the requirements of its own PUD approval process. See id. at ¶11. The district court entered judgment for the city on the grounds that the city had substantially complied with its ordinances in the approval process. See id. at ¶13. On appeal, the Utah Supreme Court reversed, holding that the city must follow its mandatory ordinances, not merely substantially comply with them. See id. at ¶29.

However, the supreme court determined that the city's failure to follow its mandatory ordinances did not automatically entitle the plaintiffs to relief. See id. at ¶31. "Rather, [the] plaintiffs must establish that they were prejudiced by the [c]ity's noncompliance with its ordinances or, in other words, *how, if at all, the [c]ity's decision would have been different* and what relief, if any, they are entitled to as a result." Id. (emphasis added). The case was then remanded to the district court for a determination of whether the city's decision would have been different had it complied with its ordinances. See id. at ¶¶32-33; see also 8A McQuillin, MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS § 25.249 (3d ed. rev. 1994) (stating defects in notice are generally disregarded where they have not prejudiced interested persons).

Petitioners fail to explain how the outcome of the Planning Commission meeting might have been different had they been mailed notice. They claim, in conclusory fashion, that they could have argued to the Planning Commission or, on a timely appeal, to the City Council, for the imposition of “different conditions” of approval for Wheeler’s conditional use permit. (Br. at 8, 10.) Petitioners assert that these conditions would include “restrictions on the hours of operation, noise limitations, etc.” (Br. at 10.)

This argument ignores two essential facts. First, the Planning Commission meeting was not a public hearing and therefore Petitioners would have had no opportunity to argue for different conditions. And, second, that Petitioners have already had the opportunity, both before the Planning Commission and the City Council, to express their concerns and opinions, and, as is clear from the conditional use permit issued by the Planning Commission, such concerns were taken into consideration. Taking these facts in turn, it is clear that Petitioners cannot show they suffered prejudice.

A. As Spectators to the Proceedings, Petitioners could not have affected the Outcome.

According to the Utah Supreme Court, the notice requirement is “to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections” Tolman v. Salt Lake County, 20 Utah 2d 310, 318, 437 P.2d 442, 448 (1968) (citation and quotation omitted); see also, e.g., Harper v. Summit County, 2001 UT 10, ¶38, 26 P.2d 193 (holding open meetings act not implicated where act at issue was ministerial in nature). In other words, as the trial court reasoned, “where an

interested party might have an opportunity to be heard and present his or her objections to a proposed action, due process requires notice to that party.” (R. 183; see also Add. A.). See also Dairy Product Servs., Inc. v. City of Wellsville, 2000 UT 81, ¶49, 13 P.3d 581 (due process in the context of a municipal hearing is concerned with the opportunity of interested parties to express concerns to an impartial decision maker).

As set forth above, in the instant case, the September 4, 2002, Planning Commission meeting was not a public hearing and therefore public comment was not taken by the Planning Commission. Rather, any member of the public attending the meeting was a mere spectator to the proceedings. Thus, Petitioners cannot show that the Planning Commission’s decision would have been different had they been present at the meeting. Therefore, the failure to mail notice did not prejudice Petitioners.

B. Petitioners have Already Presented their Views and Objections to the Planning Commission and the City Council and therefore have had their Voices Heard on this Matter.

Second, Petitioners argue that they have a right to have their voices heard before the City Council. However, Petitioners are quick to forget and their brief entirely ignores the fact that they previously had the opportunity, on two separate occasions, to voice their concerns before both the Planning Commission and the City Council.

As set forth above, Petitioners Karen Golay, Grace Blackburn, and Morgan Bingham presented their objections to the City Council in the January 9, 2002, public hearing. Representatives and residents of the Highlands Homeowners Association and Turtle Creek Homeowners Association also presented their objections to the City Council

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